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________________ 
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Colwyn, L. 
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Howarth of Breckland, B. 
Howie of Troon, L. 
Massey of Darwen, B. 
Thomas of Walliswood, B. 
Williamson of Horton, L. (Chairman) 
________________ 

Witnesses: Ms Luisella Pavan-Woolfe, (DG Employment), European Commission, and Ms 

Spyridoula Alexopoulou, European Commission, examined. 

Q340  Chairman: Welcome.  We are very pleased to see you here.  I might add a personal 

welcome, since we worked together for quite a number of years in the golden years of the 

European Commission.  Thank you for taking the time to come here.  The session is open to 

the public and we will be recorded for broadcasting.  You will get at the end a verbatim 

transcript which you can correct and send back to us.  Can I first ask you whether you want to 

say anything at the beginning or shall we plunge into a number of questions? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  It is a great pleasure for me to be here with you today.  I am Luisella 

Pavan-Woolfe. I am an official of the European Commission and I am the Director in charge 

of equality between men and women.  You know probably all there is to know about this 

proposal that we put on the table last year so I am not going to say much on it, except that the 

point of view from which we came in preparing our proposal was very much that of furthering 

the lot of women in the European Union.  It is a gender Directive.  It is an equal treatment 

Directive, so we are looking at equality between men and women in Europe.  It is a relatively 

new area for work in the legislation of the European Union because, as you know, we have 
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been working on equal treatment in employment for over 50 years.  The area of access to 

goods and services is new.  This comes from the mandate that we got at the European Council 

at Nice.  It follows Directives on race discrimination which also looked at the area of equality 

and equal treatment, equal access, in the area of goods and services.  The European 

Commission has looked at the situation in the various Member States, the old ones and the 

new ones.  We saw that there were instances of discrimination and this is why we have tabled 

this Directive.  The Directive, as you know, has received a favourable opinion from the 

European Parliament and discussions have been going on for quite some time in the working 

group of the European Council. 

Q341  Chairman: Thank you.  We absolutely understand the principle behind the Directive.  

We have quite strong sex discrimination legislation in this country.  We are generally happy 

with it.  You did mention that you had some instances of sex discrimination in some Member 

States.  Did you have a relatively thorough look at the situation, because the principle is fully 

understood.  The question is: is there going to be much difference in practice in terms of 

reducing sex discrimination? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We do not have an awful lot of cases of infringement because you only 

have infringement when you have legislation.  We have a series of instances in which there 

has been discrimination recorded through complaints or through the work of the equality 

bodies, where there is legislation.  If you are interested in the type of discrimination, we have 

instances of, for example, women having difficulty in accessing financial loans, part time 

workers or single mothers having problems or difficulties in accessing housing and 

accommodation.  Even during the discussions in the Council of Ministers, new cases are 

reported on a fairly frequent basis.  One was a case of women in a new Member State not 

being allowed to have insurance when travelling if they are pregnant.  You have seen our data 

and the Eurostat survey.  This is a 2002 survey which showed that about 25 per cent of those 
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reported to have experienced discrimination in the area of goods and services had been 

discriminated on grounds of sex. You have also seen the data that we have put together on the 

cases that have gone in front of the Irish equality body and the Dutch equality body.  In the 

case of Ireland, 25 per cent of the reported cases of discrimination have concerned access to 

services and 75 per cent employment.  For the Netherlands, ten per cent of the cases dealt by 

the Equality body concerns sex discrimination in access to goods and services. 

Q342  Lord Howie of Troon:  I thought you said something about women being 

discriminated against when pregnant.  Is that a case of sexual discrimination?  Surely, that is 

taking care of a medical condition?  Men do not ever get pregnant. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  What is being reported is that pregnant women who want to travel in a 

foreign country do not get insurance coverage.  Insurance companies refuse. 

Q343  Lord Howie of Troon:  Does that mean that they are discriminated against because 

they are women, because of gender, which this is all about, or because of pregnancy, which is 

a different matter entirely? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  It is not a different matter. 

Q344  Lord Howie of Troon:  It might appear so if you are an insurer. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We have constant jurisprudence that says if you are refused something 

because you are pregnant it is a case of direct discrimination. 

Q345  Lord Howie of Troon:  We learn something every day.  I come now to the scope of 

the Directive.  We believe that education, the media – I say this as I used to be a publisher of 

magazines so I am interested in the media – and advertising were originally included in the 

Directive.  Then they were dropped out.  Why was that and do you think that was a mistake? 
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Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  As usual, the Commission goes through a number of successive drafts 

when preparing legislation.  Our original proposal limited itself to the supply of goods and 

services and excluded the area of media, advertising and education.  It was very much at an 

internal stage that we thought of the areas you mentioned and others – for example, taxation.  

We went through a variety of areas.  Finally, the decision was to adopt a step-by-step 

approach.  This was partly because we had consulted widely, including with the Member 

States, with the interested industries, and we thought that even though to us it was quite clear 

that in the area of media and advertising there were cases of discrimination it is an area in 

which, because of limited Community competence, one had to tread carefully.  It is possibly 

an area where, because of preoccupations to do with freedom of the media and the press, EU 

legislation was to take a rather prudent approach. 

Q346  Lord Howie of Troon:  I do not want to go into the question of employment and so on 

in the media but in my country, which is Scotland, females had equal opportunities in 

education the same as me from the beginning to the end of their education process.  Are there 

places where that does not happen? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We were looking at things like whether girls and boys are given the same 

chances de facto in accessing schools, whether boys and girls have the same choice of subject 

matters.  We are looking at boys only schools and girls only schools.  You have universal 

education in all our countries and that is not a problem. 

Q347  Lord Howie of Troon:  You thought perhaps it was unnecessary to include education, 

which would make sense? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We thought it was unnecessary at this stage, yes. 

Q348  Lord Howie of Troon:  It might possibly become necessary, might it? 
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Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  At this stage, we have not really started to think about it.  We have 

excluded it now. 

Lord Howie of Troon:  I am not going to ask you why you put it in at the first stage.  That 

would be unkind. 

Q349  Baroness Thomas of Walliswood:  The Commission did an impact assessment and 

listed the relevant anti-discrimination legislation in place in the then 15 Member States.  Was 

there any comparative study done about the strengths and weaknesses of that legislation and 

what is your impression of the situation as far as anti-discrimination law is concerned in the 

accession states, the new Member States?  Do you have any opinion about how our own 

Sexual Discrimination Act compares with the laws elsewhere?  Is it better, worse or more 

comprehensive or less comprehensive?  I suppose it is rather a naughty thing to ask but are 

there certain Member States which you feel are especially in need of this legislation? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We have looked at possibly two sets of legislative provisions: legislation 

on equality between men and women and anti-discrimination legislation.  If we look at the 

new Member States, I think it is true to say that in both areas legislation is relatively new and 

it has been adopted largely as a consequence of enlargement.  European legislation in the area 

of anti-discrimination is also recent, and dates back to 2000.  Some of the old Member States 

have not transposed yet.  From that point of view, the new Member States have all transposed 

and in a way are better off than some of the old Member States, at least from the point of view 

of existence of legal texts.  I am not going to say anything about implementation because that 

will probably take some time and in the new Member States capacity building in terms of 

administrative structures, equality bodies and judicial capacity needs to be strengthened.  On 

legislation on equality between men and women, it is also very much the case that the new 

Member States had basic equality principles in their fundamental laws but they had to adopt 

new legislation which transposes the some ten Directives that we have in the area of equality 
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between men and women, so these are relatively recent texts as well.  What they did have 

were texts transposing ILO conventions to protect women during maternity or in the case of 

dangerous work or working in mines.  With regard to the second part of your question, 

specific legislation on non-discrimination on the basis of sex in the supply of and access to 

goods and services exists only in the UK, Ireland, the Netherlands and Finland. 

Q350  Baroness Howarth of Breckland:  From what you have just been saying, we 

acknowledge that the UK has advanced legislation in this field and, picking up Lord Howie’s 

point, I am sure that if in the UK a fit, pregnant woman was denied insurance they would be 

straight before our sex discrimination courts.  Acknowledging all of that, there may well be 

difficulties in other countries grappling with this and many of the witnesses that we have seen 

have argued that facilities as well as services and specifically with reference to acts carried 

out by public bodies should be included in the Directive.  First of all, what is the 

Commission’s view of that and, secondly, in view of what I have just been saying, is the term 

“facilities” as used in the UK Sex Discrimination Act properly understood and applicable to 

Community law? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We have been working with Community principles, concepts and 

definitions.  We have looked at the definition of “services” as it is incorporated in the Treaty 

and as it has been interpreted extensively by the Court of Justice.  When we talk about 

services, we look at Article 50 of the Treaty.  A service is any service normally provided for 

remuneration and available to the public.  We understand that what is meant by “facilities” in 

your legislation would be covered by the principle of services as stated in the EU Treaty and 

we do not think it would be a good idea to introduce a new concept in a European text. 

Q351  Baroness Howarth of Breckland:  You think it is incorporated in the concept as the 

Commission sees it? 
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Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  Yes.  We understand that facilities would mean access to equipment, to 

premises and accommodation and that would be covered by the concept of services. 

Q352  Baroness Howarth of Breckland:  You have answered my next question which is that 

you are satisfied that the Directive as drafted would cover adequately the rights of access to 

public buildings and commercial premises for trade.  You are happy that that is so? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  There I need to make a distinction because the concept of services 

includes this idea of remuneration and of being available to the public.  Having access to a 

building or to a room like this would not be covered by the proposal.  It would be covered if 

denying access to a room or to a building would also imply not being able to have access to a 

service in that building.  We are not covering access to public premises unless there is a 

service which is carried out or offered on those premises. 

Q353  Baroness Howarth of Breckland:  Or a facility, as you have incorporated it into a 

previous question? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  Yes. 

Chairman: We come to Article 4 which has been much commented on in the United 

Kingdom. 

Q354  Baroness Greengross:  You will know that the British Government’s main 

reservations are over Article 4 and that would prohibit the use of gender specific actuarial data 

in calculating premiums and benefits for insurance and annuities.  We understand now that 

this has been modified.  Insurers can take sex into account.  What I am not very sure of is 

“provided it does not result in price differences based on sex”.  Can you explain, please, 

because I thought this was what it was about, price differences based on sex. 

8 



Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We are trying to clarify the text that we had in our original proposal.  An 

insurance group could look at the pool of people and the proportion of male and female in it, 

calculate the overall basket of risks and then price individually, making sure men and women 

are charged the same premium for the same benefits.  In the charging out to the individual, 

they could differentiate on the basis of health or age, but not on the basis of sex.  They could 

take into consideration sex when calculating the overall risk. 

Q355  Baroness Greengross:  Although they take it into account, what happens if the pool of 

insurance changes as a result of something? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  It should change in a free market.  In life insurance if you were only 

insuring women, your overall costs would be higher than if you were only insuring men.  This 

probably means that later on you cause a movement in consumer preference and you will end 

up with a different mix, sex-wise, of people insured because higher prices will get women to 

move out of your pool and you will be subsequently attracting more men.  

Q356  Baroness Greengross:  We have been reading in the press recently that the 

Commission is now perhaps changing its view and might permit what are called objectively 

justified and up-to-date actuarial data to be used when calculating insurance premiums.  Is 

that true?  If so, has the Commission worked out how you would define objective justification 

and what the relevance is of actuarial data?  Who judges the relevance of actuarial data and 

how good it is?  Whose judgment are you going to accept? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  I am sure you are aware that the Council of Ministers has had its first 

discussion on Article 4.  It was quite clear in that discussion that, even though the Directive 

was broadly welcomed and even though the majority of Member States thought that  

sex-based actuarial factors were discriminatory, this was only the majority and we need 

unanimity to get this draft Directive through.  A number of possible alternatives were put on 
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the table and the Dutch Presidency is working on them at present.  The idea of objective 

factors has been brought up in discussions by the industry and has been on the table for some 

time.  At present, the Commission has not worked out a possible alternative but, for the 

moment, we do not find the concept of objective factors and objective justification helpful.  In 

a way, we have always said that it is true statistically that women’s longevity is different from 

men’s.  We have never disputed this. Linking differentiation to objective factors would 

simply reinstate that, because women live longer.  They have to pay higher premiums or they 

receive smaller benefits, depending on the type of insurance.  The point that we have always 

been trying to make is that, from a statistical point of view, women and men have different 

life spans, but it is possibly not biological or genetic; it is more to do with lifestyle, behaviour 

and societal roles.  We are not convinced that linking insurance premiums to this idea of 

objective justification will work. 

Q357  Baroness Greengross:  If it is lifestyle rather than the other which is becoming 

similar, will the actuarial calculations not adjust if it becomes even more similar?  It is more 

similar than it used to be, but if that became similar the actuaries would have discovered that, 

would they not? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  Our point has always been that if we take another group – for example, 

ethnic groups – we know certain ethnic groups have shorter life expectancies, but we would 

consider it discriminatory to look at that and not other factors.  It is not a question of the gap 

narrowing.  We have some very interesting studies and if you would like we could send you a 

list of them.  An interesting study by the Max Plank Institute did show that way back there 

were no differences in life expectancy.  It has really been in the last century that this has 

become fairly important.  Even now, the variations are huge: three years in Cyprus and 12 

years in Estonia.  The differentiation started in the last century, which would tend to show it is 

lifestyle and behaviour rather than anything else. 
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Q358  Lord Howie of Troon:  If insurance companies are unable to use actuarial data, how 

otherwise can they determine their premiums, apart from looking at the entrails of a duck? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  They should link the premiums to the risk.  If you look at motor 

insurance, there are factors like postal code, age over 30 and things like your accident rate 

which are more important than your sex.  We are saying that insurance should be linked to the 

risk factor, but we are also saying that it is wrong to put 52 per cent of the population in one 

risk group.  You should look at individuals and if we are looking at motor insurance we 

should look at the individual’s behaviour. 

Q359  Lord Howie of Troon:  I am dying to agree with you but if you take your approach, 

which I rather like, this really means tailoring the premium almost to each individual which 

would be enormously cumbersome and burdensome and would undoubtedly lead to an 

enormous increase in premiums all round, would it not? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  It means looking differently at the market, which is something the 

insurance industry does already. 

Q360  Lord Howie of Troon:  Rule of thumb? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  No.  If I look for life insurance, they ask me if I take exercise, what sort 

of job I have, what sort of education and income I have.  Those are important factors. 

Q361  Baroness Massey of Darwen:  We have discussed this issue about the longevity gap 

between men and women in other sessions.  It seems that that is likely to remain and you have 

at least partly answered how important that gap is in comparison with other factors, but has 

the Commission done any research on this?  Do we know that this is so and are there any firm 

conclusions or would you say that more research is needed?  How important is the gap in 

comparison with other actuarial factors? 
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Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We have looked at the type of research that has been put together.  We 

have talked to the industry and we see that practices by the insurance industry in the various 

Member States vary enormously, with quite a number of countries not taking into account sex 

in motor insurance, for example, in the Netherlands, Portugal, Poland and Sweden.  They look 

at other things.  They look at accident rates, the type of engine the car has, the type of car you 

are driving.  What you also see is that in quite a few countries where sex is used and  

sex-based tables are used, they are often out of date.  If those are the objective factors they are 

basing their pricing on, it does not seem accurate.  We have also seen certain countries using 

longevity tables referring to the population of countries different than the ones where they are 

insuring risks, so this does not seem very accurate either. 

Q362  Baroness Massey of Darwen:  More research might be needed to look at that whole 

issue?  I mean up-to-date research.  You are implying that things are out-of-date. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  I do not think I am implying that.  At present, there seems to be quite a 

mix of practices on the market as far as what factors we choose as an objective basis to price 

insurance.  I have not seen any convincing evidence to show that sex is a more reliable factor 

than anything else. 

Q363  Baroness Massey of Darwen:  Does the Commission want to regularise all that, if 

they are all doing different things? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We are coming not so much from a point of view of harmonising 

practices but from the point of view of eliminating inequalities.  We think the principle of 

choosing sex and not other factors is discriminatory. 

Q364  Lord Harrison:  Good afternoon.  I would like to return to motor insurance premiums.  

As I understand from the Explanatory Memorandum which you have submitted, there are 
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some countries who use the vehicle, as you have indicated, and the size of the engine rather 

than the driver to base how they compute their motor car premiums.  Could you say which 

countries and whether they have been successful?  We have heard from other witnesses that 

some of the continental countries have used a single price for men and women but they have 

used it on what they call a mono-sex basis, for one sex, and applied that to both sexes.  As 

you will understand, it is a very complicated area and we would benefit from having 

knowledge of what is continental practice here. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  For motor insurance, countries which do not use sex as one of the risk 

factors are Luxembourg, Latvia, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Slovenia and Sweden.  

Countries where insurers have expressed concern on the application of the Directive in the 

area of motor insurance, as far as I can see, have been the UK, very strongly, Ireland and 

France. 

Q365  Lord Harrison:  Have these countries that you name relatively successful industries, 

as far as you can tell?  The insurance companies and those who are insured are relatively 

happy with that way of computing and calculating the premium? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  I am told that there are not any particular problems. 

Q366  Lord Harrison:  This is very interesting because we have heard witnesses from 

British insurance companies that tell us in the most certain terms that it would be impossible 

to dispense with gender, with sex, as at least one method of calculating an appropriate 

insurance premium.  What do you have to say about that? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  Other countries do it.  It is not by legislation.  It is the way insurers 

choose to operate.  In certain countries – I think you referred to the unisex tables for life 

insurance, for example, in France – this was brought in by legislation.  The system seems to 
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be operating and it does not seem to have caused particular disruption, either to the industry 

or the consumer. 

Q367  Lord Harrison:  Can I give you one example that was given to us as the most clear 

example of where insurance companies would find difficulty if they did not use gender?  

They say to us that if you have a young man and a young woman each of whom have just 

passed their test and wish to acquire a car, you have not any of that other associated 

information like a history of driving or whatever.  You are simply down to gender and age, if 

you like, and they say it is impossible not to factor that into determining the right premiums 

for that young man and that young woman. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  I do not think it would be impossible and the proof is that it is done in 

other countries.  I accept it would be difficult until the driver has his or her first accident but 

you can base your premiums on the type of car and the type of engine. 

Q368  Lord Harrison:  It is most refreshing to hear this because I have been waiting for 

someone to say this for quite some time.  Even the Equal Opportunities Commission in this 

country, to put the argument on the other side, say they believe there can be a case made out 

whereby you could use gender as part of the panoply of the criteria which you would use to 

determine motor insurance. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  On the other hand, we have been hearing about the insurance industry in 

countries where insuring young male and female drivers has become such a preoccupation 

because it is so expensive that there has been discussion on whether there should be solidarity 

between older drivers and young drivers, to be able to cover adequately young drivers and 

give them a chance to access insurance.  In some countries, insuring young male drivers has 

become so expensive that it has driven male drivers out of the insurance market and this is 

dangerous for everyone. 
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Lord Harrison:  I am very grateful to you for your views. 

Q369  Baroness Howarth of Breckland:  Are there any cost comparisons of insurance 

across Member States, because certainly we have been told that should there be equality at the 

beginning of a motorist’s insurance life costs would increase.  It would be useful because it 

seems to me that if that were true young women who found themselves paying more would be 

discriminated against because of young men’s driving.  There is a real equal opportunity issue 

underneath all this for young women in this country. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  The Commission is not convinced by the argument that the insurance 

industry has put forward that, if we factor sex out of the equation, it is going to make it more 

expensive for everyone.  What we have been trying to say all along is that in a competitive 

and open market you should reach a point where, if you calculate your risk according to real 

risk factors, you can obtain change in your pricing out to individuals and your pool of insured 

people will change.  There will be more opportunities for consumers to move around and shop 

around.   

Q370  Baroness Howarth of Breckland:  Is that borne out by a comparative cost analysis of 

insurance or are other variables so great that it is difficult? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We have not carried out an analysis. 

Q371  Lord Howie of Troon:  I do not think I heard an answer to Lord Harrison’s first 

question which was which countries are those in which insurance premiums are based on the 

vehicle rather than the driver, because that would exclude sex, age and everything else.  Are 

there such countries? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  The ones I have mentioned do not look at the sex of the driver. 
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Q372  Lord Howie of Troon:  The question was do they look at the vehicle rather than the 

driver.  Do they? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  It is the vehicle, the rate of accidents and other factors but not sex.  I can 

come back to you if the question is which ones are insuring on the basis of the vehicle only. 

Q373  Lord Howie of Troon:  Thank you.  Regardless of your age, your insurance premium 

would be based on the kind of car you had.  If you had a 4x4 it would be enormous; if you 

had a Mini, it would be relatively modest.  Is that it? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  Yes.  It is the size of the engine. 

Q374  Lord Colwyn:  Annuities are a subject about which I knew very little when we started 

this inquiry but I am getting to be a lot wiser as we proceed.  What I would be interested to 

know is how much independent advice the Commission had in assessing how annuities are 

used in different Member States and how the relative size of the annuity market in other 

Member States compared to that of us in the UK which is unique in its legal obligation to 

purchase an annuity by the age of 75.  All this will change when the Conservative Party wins 

the next election.  We are concerned that the Commission might not have a complete 

understanding of this complex issue in the UK and it is probably true to say that the majority 

of people holding pension funds do not understand about annuities either, but what effect do 

you think the proposed changes might have?  Do you think that because of this legal 

requirement for the purchase of an annuity in this country we are exceptional and should be 

treated differently under the Directive? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  We are aware of the fact that the insurance market is not just a question 

of annuity.  Insurance markets are very different in the Member States.  If you look at the ten 

new Member States, they are very small, very new markets.  From this point of view, the UK 

is in a different situation.  It has a much larger annuity market than countries like France, for 
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example.  We have had information from the industry on the differences.  We still maintain 

that we ought to look at the insurance situation in all the Member States in the same way 

because our starting point is very much a point of considering using sex based factors as 

discriminatory. 

Q375  Lord Colwyn:  At the moment, there is a difference of around about five to ten per 

cent between single men and women in the cost of an annuity on retirement.  That reflects the 

expected longevity.  Imposition of unisex annuity rates for men might reduce their income by 

up to ten per cent and only produce marginal benefits for women who have independent 

pension funds of about two per cent and tend to rely on pensions taken out by their partners or 

whoever.  Can you explain what public purpose this new Directive will serve? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  I do not know whether I should say this but sometimes I think of ages 

ago when everyone was saying why should women be paid the same amount as men for the 

same type of work.  This would be paid for by all of us in society, which would bring prices 

up and both men and women would suffer.  I know it is probably the wrong thing to say and it 

is not the right parallelism, but we are not saying that, if young women lose out because they 

have to subsidise young men’s motor insurance, it is not worth doing.  We are not saying, if 

women only manage to gain marginally, say two per cent, then we should not do it.  We are 

not saying that women might lose out because it is normally men who take up annuities.  

They might now, but what we are looking for is a fairer society.  This is the objective. We are 

not really concentrating on whether women in a family context now will lose out.  What we 

want is independent earners in future years. 

Q376  Chairman: If there are no other questions, we will release you back to Brussels.  I 

have just one.  When do you think the Directive will come to the Council for approval?  I 
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know it is in the working groups but would you make a guess as to when you think it would 

get to Council level? 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  The Dutch Presidency is trying to accelerate the work now.  We are clear 

about the text pretty much on everything except for the actuarial factors and it is likely to be 

on the table before the Council of Ministers on 4 October for political debate. 

Q377  Chairman: We do not guarantee that they will agree it at the first meeting but you 

never know.  Thank you very much indeed for coming and if you could let us have the 

information on insurance by vehicle and not by driver that would be helpful. 

Ms Pavan-Woolfe:  Yes, and also the list of studies. 
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Witnesses: Jacqui Smith, a Member of the House of Commons, Deputy Minister for Women 

and Equality, DTI, Ms Susan Smith, Legal Adviser, DTI, and Ms Liz Chennells, Director, 

Gender Equality and Social Justice, Women and Equality Unit, DTI, examined. 

Q378  Chairman: First of all, Minister, welcome.  We have stuck very well to our timing 

despite having to go away and vote at one stage.  Thank you very much for coming.  I am sure 

you know the procedure very well, but I would just say that it is being recorded for 

broadcasting and so everything is heard, including asides.  We will send you the transcript, of 

course, for correction.  We are very pleased to have you here as the last of our witnesses.  You 

have the last word, which is quite right; it is quite right that the British Government should 

have the last word.  I do not know if you would like to say anything at the beginning.  If you 

would we would be glad to hear it; if not, we will go to questions. 

Jacqui Smith: My Lord Chairman, Members of the Committee, thank you very much indeed 

for inviting me.  I am glad to be here and particularly to be giving evidence in an Inquiry 

which I think will be very helpful for us as we take forward our consideration of the 

Directive.  In my role as Deputy Minister for Women I lead on this Directive for the 

Government, although you will have heard evidence from my colleague, Ruth Kelly, 

particularly on the issues surrounding Article 4 and also very useful evidence from a range of 

other key stakeholders, like the Association of British Insurers and the Equal Opportunities 

Commission, and, of course, most recently today from Luisella Pavan-Woolfe, of the 

European Commission.  I hope that has helped the Committee in an understanding of and a 

thorough insight into the Directive and perhaps an understanding of the complexity of the 

Directive from all sides of the argument.  As we said before, and I know that Ruth 

emphasised this as well, the UK Government very much welcomes this draft directive and its 

aim to expand equal treatment in the field of goods and services.  Our national Sex 

Discrimination Act has worked successfully now for nearly 30 years and we believe that the 
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Directive will be instrumental in helping to develop sex discrimination legislation throughout 

Europe in a similar way to ours.  In the last couple of months, and since my officials gave 

evidence to you at the end of April, negotiations on the directive have moved on, particularly 

on the Article 4 issues.  I attended the Employment, Social Policy, Health and Consumer 

Affairs Council at the beginning of June where an orientation debate was held on Article 4, a 

very interesting debate during which a majority of Member States indicated their concerns 

over the insurance issues and felt that a compromise should be drafted in order to reflect 

everyone’s opinions.  The new Dutch Presidency will now hopefully move things forward 

with a revised proposal which can be accepted by the UK as well as other Member States.  

The Presidency and the Commission working together have already issued a revised text on 

other issues, which I know you considered with my officials, such as proposing new wording 

for handling exemptions and ways in which the Directive applies to both the customer and the 

provider.  I understand that the Council Working Group on Tuesday this week helped to 

progress some of those issues and obviously I would be very happy to give you more detail 

about that when we touch on some of those points later on in the discussion, although, of 

course, as you know, those things are still subject to negotiation and, as I said at the 

beginning, this Inquiry can only be helpful to us in taking forward those negotiations. 

Chairman: Thank you very much indeed.  It is extremely useful to have a slight update.  

Your officials were very helpful when they came to see us before and Ruth Kelly was in 

excellent form, if I may say, when she came here and was very helpful to the committee.  Of 

course, things are moving on.  We need to keep up with what is happening in the Council and 

the Working Group.  I will go straight on to invite Lord Howie to ask you about UK 

objections to the Directive to see whether there are objections which extend beyond some of 

the points in Article 4, having accepted your point in general that you are favourable to the 

purpose of the Directive. 
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Q379  Lord Howie of Troon: We know that the Government has reservations about Article 

4, although I gather from your comments that those might be modified in some way.  Has the 

Government any other serious objections to the draft directive as it now stands and, if so, 

what are they? 

Jacqui Smith: We do have some concerns.  You will have seen from the letter that was sent 

by my officials at the end of June that as the Directive stands we are still negotiating with the 

Commission and with other Member States on several issues, some of which, it is fair to say, 

we saw some progress on in the Working Group on Tuesday.  In particular the UK is pressing 

for the Directive to contain a small number of specific exemptions that relate to the types of 

exemptions that we currently have in the Sex Discrimination Act and that we believe afford 

certain protection to women.  We are particularly concerned about a range of issues.  First, we 

are concerned about sporting activities, religion and voluntary bodies.  All of those have 

exemptions in the Sex Discrimination Act.  We continue to put our case on those issues at the 

Working Group and I think we are going to need to consider further how we progress our 

concerns in those negotiations.  If you want me to go into more detail about why we have 

those exemptions in the Sex Discrimination Act I can. 

Q380  Lord Howie of Troon: I would love it but we have not got all day. 

Jacqui Smith: Okay.  I would be very willing to if you wanted me to but I think people 

probably understand why we have those.  We were also, as my officials spelt out when they 

spoke to you previously, concerned about the position with respect to refuges, where clearly it 

is quite important, if it is possible, for those to be single sex, and also the issue of renting a 

private room in a person’s house where it seems reasonable in some circumstances that you 

might want to recognise the particular nature of that domestic situation when you are renting 

out a room.  I am glad to report that at Tuesday’s Working Group a majority of Member 

States were in support of an amendment to the exemptions which would allow refuges and 
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renting a private room to be exempt from the directive.  Obviously, there is still discussion 

about what the final form of that exemption is going to be and that is still being negotiated.  

Understandably, there is some pressure from the Commission to reduce the number of 

examples which are contained within the text.  I can understand them wishing to keep the 

exemptions as narrow as possible, but I think we have made some quite important progress in 

respect to the issue about refuges and renting a private room.  The other area where there was 

a grey issue and where there was some concern about the application of the Directive was 

with respect to its coverage both of service providers and of customers.  We had two concerns 

about that.  The Sex Discrimination Act limits itself to, if you like, legislating in respect to the 

providers of goods and services.  We felt, one, that it is quite difficult to envisage what a 

sanction would be on a customer in terms of discrimination, and, two, as I think the 

committee will have seen from the memorandum from the Department of Health, there are 

some specific concerns about the health arena where it may well be that, for example, a 

woman, and particularly women from certain ethnic minority groups, would want to be very 

clear that they could express a preference for a woman clinician to deal with them.  Those 

were our concerns.  However, there as well the Working Group on Tuesday had an 

amendment presented which would limit the Directive only to service providers and I think 

there was a fair amount of support for that, so that is another area where we have made some 

progress but clearly we will need to continue to negotiate to ensure that that does fulfil the 

objectives that we have set and overcomes those concerns. 

Q381  Lord Howie of Troon: I get the impression that you can see fairly considerable 

improvement in this Directive in the way of exemptions.  Is that right? 

Jacqui Smith: That we have seen or that we could see?  I think it is fair to say that the 

discussions that have happened up until this point have enabled us to make our case for the 

sorts of exemptions that we want to see and to see some progress with relation to renting a 
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room, refuges and customers as opposed to service providers not being within the ambit of the 

Directive.  We still have some concerns about the impact with relation to voluntary bodies 

and the religious exemption and sporting activities, so that is an area where we will want to 

keep looking and clarifying what the impact would be because clearly we believe from our 

experience with relation to the Sex Discrimination Act that those are legitimate exemptions 

which in very many cases have protected women’s ability to be able, particularly in the case 

of voluntary bodies, to organise in a way that sometimes helps to promote women’s interests 

and have not been detrimental in terms of sex discrimination at all. 

Q382  Lord Howie of Troon: I can see that there are quite a number of things that you would 

like to see out of the Directive.  Are there any things which are not in the Directive as yet 

which you would like to see put in it? 

Jacqui Smith: On the whole we are content with the coverage of the Directive.  What is 

important to remember, of course, is that there is nothing in the Directive which would cause 

us to have to limit coverage of the Sex Discrimination Act, so even if there were areas which 

fell short of our current domestic coverage we could still ensure that the protections we have 

within the Sex Discrimination Act could be maintained. 

Q383  Lord Howie of Troon: So the Directive is perhaps not entirely necessary as far as the 

UK is concerned? 

Jacqui Smith: I would disagree about that. 

Q384  Lord Howie of Troon: I thought you might! 

Jacqui Smith: I strongly support the purpose of the Directive, I have to say.  I think it is right 

that the Community is looking at the extension of that principle of equal treatment between 

men and women across the whole of the Community. 
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Q385  Baroness Howarth of Breckland: Minister, I think you have answered a good deal of 

what I would have been asking you because I really wanted to hear about the negotiations so 

far and where we were on Article 4.  May I ask you a slightly different question which 

interests me?  Because we have such advanced legislation in this country clearly we are 

wanting to protect that in the areas in which I identify very clearly with you.  Do you think 

that the work that we are doing will have an influence across Europe and, if so, what is your 

hope for that? 

Jacqui Smith: First, on the progress with respect to Article 4, I suppose it might be 

worthwhile reporting back in slightly more detail on my appearance at the Council on 1 June 

when, as I say, it was a very interesting debate with quite a good turnout of Ministers from 

most of the 25 Member States.  My argument was that sex-based actuarial factors should be 

used in insurance pricing when they could be objectively justified, a similar position to the 

position we have taken in the Sex Discrimination Act.  As the Chairman suggested, Ruth 

Kelly more than ably explained the reasons why that was necessary in her session.  Like the 

UK, most of the Member States who spoke in that debate did generally welcome the Directive 

but I think there were 16 other Member States who spoke at that Council who said that they 

did not think they could accept the Directive as it was currently drafted with respect to Article 

4.  They had differing Member State situations with respect to their insurance but I think there 

was a strong feeling that it was not unreasonable to consider that where you could objectively 

justify clear risks based on gender you should be able to continue using those in your 

insurance pricing.  The Presidency certainly noted the various views on Article 4 and the 

differential impact of the Directive on various insurance products.  My understanding is that 

they are now looking at producing a compromise proposal for Article 4 which we certainly 

hope might be issued before the next Working Group meeting on 20 July, which is focusing 

24 



particularly on that Article 4 issue.  On your point about do we have things that we can teach 

the rest of Europe, ----- 

Q386  Baroness Howarth of Breckland: Or even learn from. 

Jacqui Smith: Absolutely; I would not want to take an arrogant approach to this by any 

means.  It is the case that we were involved, using our experience, in discussions with the 

Commission in advance of bringing forward this Directive because we strongly support the 

objective of extending equal treatment with respect to goods and services.  I hope it will be 

able to continue taking that constructive approach to using our experience to ensure that the 

Directive is as good as possible, and I have no doubt that it is a useful and important function 

for us, whatever the outcome of the Directive, to continue to share our experience of gender 

equality legislation which is probably at the forefront with relation to the Sex Discrimination 

Act of other European Member States broadly across Europe, particularly if you look at 

countries like – and I am not suggesting that they need our assistance – Germany, where they 

have no equal treatment legislation in respect to goods and services, and particularly some of 

the new accession countries.  Both our experience and the development of this Directive can 

be very important in spreading those rights throughout the whole of the new 25 Members. 

Q387  Baroness Howarth of Breckland: Do you therefore think it might be quite useful to 

have more qualitative as well as quantitative comparative studies in terms of the impact of 

this kind of legislation across Europe? 

Jacqui Smith: I think there is a role for research; I think there is a role for benchmarking 

across Europe.  Also on 1 June we had quite an interesting discussion about Commission 

proposals for the development of a gender institute across Europe where one of the roles 

could well be to draw together the evidence and benchmark.  The EOC as well, of course, 

plays an important role in looking at our experience and how that can be shared.  My 
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tendency always is (and it may be a failing of mine) that quite often we know, as in fact the 

Commission knew because of the way they spelt it out in their Explanatory Memorandum, 

where the problems are.  Sometimes it is a case of getting on with putting them right rather 

than researching where they continue to be. 

Q388  Baroness Greengross: Given that you have a very positive attitude towards the aims 

of this Directive what would your response be to the witnesses we have had before us who 

argued that it is a missed opportunity and too narrowly drawn if you compare it with the Race 

and Employment Directives as well as with our Sex Discrimination Act?  Would it not be 

right to make this one as extensive in scope as possible, have rather more rather than just keep 

it as it is? 

Jacqui Smith: On the whole I do not agree with those who believe that this is a missed 

opportunity and narrowly drawn, not least because of course we are dealing in this Directive 

with a quite radically different scope than we were with the Race Directive, for example, 

which extended over the area of employment as well.  We already have, with the Equal 

Treatment Directive, European legislation with respect to sex discrimination in the area of 

employment and that it seems to me is operating quite satisfactorily, so the gap, if you like, 

that this Directive serves to fill with respect to European legislation is around equal treatment 

with respect to goods and services.  Of course, our sex discrimination legislation covers both 

employment and goods and services, so necessarily it will appear broader in scope than what 

is being attempted here.  The scope of this Directive, which was agreed after quite a lot of 

consultation and negotiation during the course of last year, is broadly right.  It will bring big 

improvements I think in terms of the coverage of anti-discrimination gender legislation across 

the EU whilst it will not impact that greatly on the UK.  That is, as I suggested earlier, 

because we do have some of the most comprehensive sex discrimination legislation already 

but I think it will provide a very good opportunity nevertheless to make the important point 
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that these are basic rights that women and men should be able to depend on across the whole 

of Europe.  In addition, we were also alert in terms of the scope of the Directive to issues 

about EU competence in general and to the principles of subsidiarity, as you would expect us 

to be, in terms of the negotiation and scope of this Directive. 

Q389  Baroness Greengross: Ms Pavan-Woolfe was talking with us about facilities.  Are 

you happy that “facilities” as we define them are covered here adequately as part of 

“services”, which I think is what the conclusion was when we asked her?  Is it going to be 

properly understood in Community law, in European law, and is everything that we worry 

about in terms of services going to be covered by “services”?  Forget the exemptions that you 

talked about. 

Jacqui Smith: I think Ms Pavan-Woolfe probably is better at explaining what the intentions 

of the definition of the Directive will involve.  It is the case that this Directive is drafted, as all 

this EU legislation tends to be drafted, in pretty broad and general terms because it will have 

to apply to 25 different Member States with different legal regimes, and of course the draft 

Directive applies to goods and services in terms which already appear in the Treaty, so it 

refers to the definition of goods in relation to the provisions of the Treaty which relate to the 

free movement of goods and it relates to services in respect to those being taken as within the 

meaning of Article 50.  There is not, if you like, an equivalent European definition of 

“facilities”, and although the term “facilities” is used in the Sex Discrimination Act where we 

cover goods, services and facilities, we cannot – and I do not think it would be a priority for 

us, frankly – insist on that definition also being included within the Directive for two reasons 

largely.  One is that there is nothing in the Directive, even if there were some dispute as to 

whether or not it covered the UK definition of “facilities” as well, that prevents us from 

carrying on using our definition of “goods, services and facilities”, so we can be confident in 

terms of the UK position that we are still covered in those areas that are “facilities”.  The 
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other reason is that frankly we do not in the Sex Discrimination Act provide a definition of 

“facilities”.  What we have is a non-exhaustive list that covers the definition or the description 

of “services and facilities” and the understanding of “facilities”, or even, some might say, 

some confusion about “facilities” that has been developed through the use of case law over 

time.  If I can give you some examples, case law has established that assistance by a police 

officer is a service, tax advice from a tax officer is a service or facility, and the ability to stand 

for election to the governing body of a friendly society is a facility.  We could argue that the 

presence of the term “facilities” in the Sex Discrimination Act could potentially extend the 

scope slightly, but I do not think it is a crucial undermining of the draft Directive that it does 

not include the same wording that we have in the Sex Discrimination Act. 

Chairman: Whilst I am complimenting witnesses, I think Ms Pavan-Woolfe gave a pretty 

good answer on the services and facilities, and I am sure your officials will look at it as well.  

It fits fairly well with the points you have made, I think. 

Q390  Earl of Dundee: Are you satisfied that the Directive adequately covers access to 

buildings and to commercial premises open for trade? 

Jacqui Smith: I think the two are probably different.  The Directive of course is concerned 

with the supply of goods and services.  Access to premises in our understanding will be 

covered if it forms part of the supply of those goods and services.  For example, access to a 

swimming pool, to a sporting arena, would clearly be a necessary part of the provision of 

those goods and services.  Strictly speaking, if the premises is a public building from which 

no goods or services are provided, then they are not covered by the Directive.  Once again, I 

am not convinced that that is likely to be a major problem.  I have slightly racked my brain as 

to what situations you might find yourself in where you could go into a public building not for 

the provision of any goods or services, and I also tried to take my mind back to 1975 to what 

might have been the position then, but nevertheless the Sex Discrimination Act does make it 
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unlawful to discriminate on the grounds of sex in relation to the access to and use of any place 

which members of the public or a section of the public are permitted to enter, so once again, 

even if there were a difficulty in the way in which the Directive is drafted, it would not impact 

in the UK because we already have that base covered in terms of the Sex Discrimination Act. 

Q391  Earl of Dundee: Is this unequivocal, that the 1975 Act does suffice although there is a 

lacuna, as you have said, in regard to the Directive concerning access to public buildings 

where there are no goods and services?  How do we know that what the Directive here omits 

will be covered all the same just because it is inserted under the 1975 Act? 

Jacqui Smith: What I was pointing out was that the Directive does not itself cover access to a 

public building where there was no service or good being offered as a consequence of one’s 

access to the public building.  If you were coming into a public building where there was no 

service being offered, my understanding is that the Directive would not cover that.  However, 

the Sex Discrimination Act does cover that and the Sex Discrimination Act coverage, if you 

like, would remain intact even if the Directive did not cover that particular issue.  It might 

make it more difficult potentially, I suppose, if there was an issue about women either in other 

Member States or travelling from the UK to other Member States but that is the only gap that 

is likely to exist. 

Q392  Earl of Dundee: How about commercial premises open for trade? 

Jacqui Smith: In those cases all of those commercial premises would be likely to be offering 

a good or a service and therefore in our view they clearly would come under the auspices of 

the Directive. 

Chairman: I think that point is adequately covered by what is now Article 50 of the Treaty 

which deals with services where they are normally provided for remuneration.  The only thing 
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that will change is the number of the article when we have the Constitutional Treaty. Thank 

you very much.  Can we go on now to exclusions? 

Q393  Lord Colwyn: I feel like I have a new lease of life; I have finally broken away from   

asking questions on annuities.  We did touch on exclusions earlier with Lord Howie’s wide-

ranging analysis of this Directive.  I wonder if you could explain why education, the media 

and advertising, which were included in earlier drafts, are not now included?  In fact, we 

asked this of Ms Pavan-Woolfe earlier and she said that there are instances of discrimination 

in these categories and I think she also included taxation.  We have a letter from Liz 

Chennells where she says that the inclusion of education might prevent Member States having 

single sex schools.  Could it not be argued that if single sex schools are adequately protected 

under UK domestic legislation it should be possible to devise a similarly satisfactory 

exemption for single sex schools in a revised Directive?  Could the media and advertising not 

be covered in a narrowly targeted way?  We might perhaps later think that the Directive had 

missed a wonderful opportunity to harmonise existing sex discrimination legislation 

throughout the UK if these were not included. 

Jacqui Smith: Our view about the exclusion of both education and advertising and the media 

are qualitatively different, if you like, from our arguments about the exemptions that I was 

talking about earlier, and they are based much more on the grounds of competence and 

subsidiarity with respect to this particular Directive.  If we take the issue of education, as we 

have covered already, the Directive applies to access to and supply of goods and services, 

“services” being defined in reference to Article 50.  As a result public education would not be 

within the scope of the Directive due to the ruling in the Humble case, and because the 

Directive is dealing with discrimination it would therefore I think be inappropriate for only 

private education to be covered, and that I think is the reasoning behind why education, both 

public and private, should be excluded from the Directive.  In addition, I think it is worth 
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noting that the Community’s competence with respect to education is limited, as set out in 

Article 149 and I think we do need to take care, as I suggested earlier, that competence is not 

extended beyond that given by the Treaty in our negotiation of this Directive.  One of our 

concerns certainly is that if the EU were in a position to claim competence in the education 

field and over school organisation they might seek to prevent Member States from having 

single sex schools, and given the widespread view of both the government and the opposition 

that there is an important role for single sex schools in both the State-maintained and the 

independent sectors in this country, we would not want to be in a position where there was a 

risk of that happening.  We think that they contribute to diversity of provision and should 

therefore be safeguarded.  It is, of course, worth noting, however, that the SDA also provides 

that exemption, if you like, for single sex schools but within the context of ensuring that there 

is equal access to education for boys and girls.  It allows the diversity and – and perhaps it is 

an appropriate word for today, Lord Chairman, – the choice between those options but it also 

ensures that there is equality of access for boys and girls and the Courts have been quite 

robust in ensuring that that remains the case.  With respect to the media and advertising, our 

view with those is that media content issues are properly for individual Member States, so 

here the subsidiarity principle is important for us, and that new legislation was therefore 

highly undesirable, and also, whilst I believe, and I think many of us believe, that 

discrimination in relation to the media and advertising is abhorrent, nevertheless it is a 

responsibility that should be maintained at a Member States level and we have a domestic 

approach with respect to the sorts of regulatory provisions that Ofcom sets down for 

commercial broadcasters, similar guidance for BBC producers and the effective self-

regulatory systems that we have in place for advertising that will enable us to address any of 

those concerns about discrimination with respect to the media and advertising in the UK.  In 

our discussion with the Commission those were the points we made in terms of our view that 
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education and advertising and the media should be outwith the scope of this particular 

Directive. 

Q394  Lord Colwyn: Thank you very much.  That covers all those points.  Would you like to 

comment on gender reassignment as well?  I do not know whether you think it is important, 

and have you been made aware of support on this from other Member States? 

Jacqui Smith: It is fair to say that there is not a great deal of support or even interest – that is 

probably unfair but not a great deal of support – in relation to other Member States for an 

express extension of the Directive to discrimination on the grounds of gender reassignment 

and it may well be that we have a particular sensitivity in the UK about the position of gender 

reassignment because the 1976 Equal Treatment Directive also made no express mention of 

gender reassignment, but in the case PVS v Cornwall County Council the ECJ ruled that a less 

favourable treatment of a person, because he or she is contemplating a gender reassignment, is 

based essentially on sex and therefore is contrary to the Equal Treatment Directive.  In 

response to that we amended the UK Sex Discrimination Act to cover discrimination on the 

grounds of gender reassignment in employment and vocational training.  Given that that 

definition of gender reassignment as being based essentially on sex, there is an argument that 

can be made that potentially therefore this Directive could extend protection implicitly or 

explicitly to trans-gendered people in the area of goods and services although, as I say, during 

the negotiations there has not been a lot of support for making that explicit and the draft 

Directive itself does not expressly mention discrimination as a result of gender reassignment.  

From the point of view of transparency and legislative certainty the lack of explicit reference 

is probably unsatisfactory although – and I do not know whether you have had the 

opportunity to question Ms Pavan-Woolfe about this – my understanding is that during the 

course of discussions the Commission has expressed the view that discrimination as a result 
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of gender reassignment is covered by the draft Directive even without express provision since 

it is an aspect of sex discrimination. 

Q395  Lord Harrison: I have a quick point of clarification on housing.  On the question 

earlier that worried your department about rented out rooms in private households, are you 

now happy that that will be excluded from the provisions of the Commission’s proposals? 

Jacqui Smith: It would be a fairer representation of my view to say that we are happier that 

some progress is being made in recognising our concerns there because the position is that the 

renting out of rooms in a private household would fall within the scope of the Directive if the 

requirements of the Directive were satisfied, ie, that the room was let for remuneration to a 

member of the public. It was because of that, and recognising the particular concerns about 

privacy, for example, that we recognised in the Sex Discrimination Act, that we wanted to 

ensure that that was recognised in the exemptions.  The view following the Working Party on 

Tuesday is that some progress has been made, certainly in terms of other Member States also 

recognising our concern about that, and even a proposal for some potential wording for how it 

might be possible to exempt that in the Directive.  This is an ongoing process so we are aware 

that we need to maintain our negotiations to make sure that the sort of exemption we think is 

appropriate will be represented in the wording of that exemption in the Directive. 

Q396  Baroness Massey of Darwen: What is the government’s view of Article 5 of the draft 

Directive which would permit positive action to prevent or compensate for disadvantages 

linked to gender?  Is this provision justified?  Is it clearly enough defined or do you foresee 

problems with it?  Might it be disadvantageous to men? 

Jacqui Smith: Our view is that Article 5 is both justified and is a beneficial provision.  To 

take the last of your points first, because none of us here would like to be disadvantageous to 

men, clearly, I hope I can provide some reassurance to the committee that of course the 
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Directive (as is also the Sex Discrimination Act) is couched in neutral terms, so it is about 

discrimination between men and women, so positive action, if the case arose, could equally be 

justified for men as it could be for women under the wording of Article 5.  The second point, 

of course, is that Article 5 is a permissive provision.  It permits Member States to take 

positive action; it does not require them to do so.  It is very much in line with a number of 

provisions in the Sex Discrimination Act which allow for positive action to prevent or 

compensate for disadvantages linked to sex.  For example, an employer could take steps to 

encourage people of one sex to apply for work or training for work in an area where that 

particular sex was under-represented, for example, in areas of science and engineering with 

respect to girls and women, or even potentially with respect to men in some caring 

professions.  The Sex Discrimination Act allows that to happen and it seems to me that that is 

justifiable if you want equal outcomes as well as simply equal treatment.  There is also in the 

Sex Discrimination Act of course the ability for trade unions and employer organisations to 

ensure minimum representation of members of each sex by reserving or creating seats on 

electoral bodies, and of course we amended the Sex Discrimination Act with the Sex 

Discrimination (Election of Candidates) Act 2002 to enable political parties to take positive 

action to reduce gender inequality in elected posts.  There is still a bit of a way to go but 

nevertheless the legislation is there.  It is not quite so clear where the case would be in 

relation to the provision of goods and services but nevertheless, if there are situations where, 

as I suggested, the form or the quality imposed by anti-discrimination legislation prevented 

you from taking action that led to a more equal outcome, you could see a justification for the 

application of the positive action duty there as well.  In relation to EC legislation or at an EU 

level Article 5 is not a completely new departure because Article 5 of the Race Directive and 

Article 7 of the Employment Directive already allow for that sort of positive action. 
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Q397  Baroness Massey of Darwen: Can I ask you about the burden of proof?  I think I 

know what your answer is going to be.  It has been suggested that transferring the burden of 

proof to respondents would be contrary to human rights legislation and that it might create a 

presumption in the courts which would tend to disadvantage men.  What is your view? 

Jacqui Smith: On the second part first again, the disadvantage to men, we do not believe it 

would create that presumption for similar reasons as I suggested previously, one, because this 

Directive is neutral in terms of its treatment of men and women and, secondly, once again this 

is not a particularly new or radical provision.  It also appears in the Race Directive, the 

Employment Directive and the amended Equal Treatment Directive.  With respect to the point 

about whether or not it is contrary to human rights legislation, it is our view that that reversal 

of the burden of proof is not contrary to human rights legislation because with respect to the 

prevention on the protection of human rights the rules on the burden of proof are of limited 

application.  Article 6(2), which deals with the issue of burden of proof, only applies to 

criminal law and the enforcement mechanisms which are provided for by the Sex 

Discrimination Act and would be provided for with respect to the Directive are civil rather 

than criminal remedies and therefore in our view Article 6(2) does not apply and is therefore 

not incompatible. 

Q398  Baroness Thomas of Walliswood: I have enjoyed listening to your exposition.  You 

have obviously been living, sleeping and dreaming this Directive. 

Jacqui Smith: Not quite as much as my officials, I believe! 

Q399  Baroness Thomas of Walliswood: Coming perhaps to the end of the process there has 

been a suggestion that the operation of the Directive should be overseen by some body or 

other at a national level.  The reason given is that you can keep an eye on what is happening 

in the insurance market to make sure that these things are not in fact having a bad effect, and 
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there might be other reasons why you want to monitor it.  Do you agree with that and do you 

think that the EOC should be the body or would you think that it would be a natural thing for 

the single equality body when it comes on stream to do, and what about monitoring at a 

Europe-wide level?  Would that be a useful thing to do to see that it is actually carrying out 

this Directive, that it is effective or not effective? 

Jacqui Smith: First I think there are probably two areas in which the issue of independent 

monitoring has arisen and you have touched on those two areas in your question.  With 

respect to the role of a national monitoring body, clearly we already have the Equal 

Opportunities Commission which plays a very important role in monitoring our sex 

discrimination legislation, reporting on it, taking positive action to a certain extent, and it 

would clearly be within the remit of the EOC and subsequently within the remit of the 

Commission for Equality in Human Rights as a single Commission to continue to play that 

role.  Then there is the separate question that some have brought forward about the need for 

independent monitoring with respect to the use of gender based actuarial calculations in the 

insurance situation.  I think that was one of the issues raised by the EOC in their evidence.  It 

is worthwhile saying first of all and putting on record that we very much welcomed the 

EOC’s evidence and their conclusions that there was some benefit in insurers being able to 

use gender as a criterion where there are those clear risks that have been shown to be directly 

related to gender.  They went further and said that they thought that the strength of that data 

should be monitored by an independent monitoring authority.  Ruth Kelly very clearly spelt 

out in her evidence some of the challenges in going forward along that route.  We certainly 

have not closed our minds to it.  There are two possible candidates, if you like, for 

independent monitoring currently in existence: the FSA, which of course is responsible for 

financial regulation, and the EOC which, whilst it is responsible for the gender monitoring, 

does not of course have insurance expertise.  I think the argument goes further than that.  Not 
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only is there not a clear candidate but, as Ruth very clearly spelt out, at the moment the 

insurance market is pretty well kept under check by both the financial regulation of the 

Financial Services Authority and an open and competitive market.  It is not clear what in 

addition an independent monitoring body would add.  As I say, we do have an open mind in 

relation to that and we will certainly want to think more about it as the process continues. 

Q400  Chairman: Thank you very much.  We always welcome joined-up government here.  

The voices of Ms Jacqui Smith and Ms Ruth Kelly seem very similar, if I may say so. 

Jacqui Smith: It is a compliment to us both, Lord Chairman. 

Q401  Lord Howie of Troon: Earlier on, Minister, you mentioned consultation and you 

seemed to be satisfied with consultation.  I somehow think you probably meant consultation 

at government level but I might be wrong.  On the other hand, several witnesses from industry 

have expressed dissatisfaction with the amount of consultation which they experienced before 

the Directive was drafted.  Have you any views on that?  Are they mistaken or are they right 

to be dissatisfied? 

Jacqui Smith: First, it would be fair to say that the Commission has rightly been driven by a 

desire to further a core principle of the Union and that is to extend equal treatment between 

men and women.  My officials have always found the Commission to be very open to policy 

discussions, to exchanges of information on these sorts of issues and we are regularly in 

dialogue with the Commission in both informal and formal sessions.  We very much welcome 

the opportunity to have that input.  It would be fair to say that there was not much formal 

discussion prior to the publication of the text last December, but I suspect that that is probably 

a criticism that could be levelled at government at a whole range of levels.  It was the case 

that the ideas were debated by the Advisory Committee for Equal Opportunities, a body 

which was set up by the EU to bring together gender experts and representatives of 
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government from each of the Member States at quite an early stage.  I know that the insurance 

industry feel that perhaps there was insufficient consultation on the impact of Article 4 in 

particular.  Interestingly, I think that was represented in the response of Member States at the 

1 June Council, many of whom said that they hoped there would be the opportunity for 

further work and consideration and an impact assessment of the effect of Article 4.  We would 

as a whole in the UK government prefer to see much better evidence-based consideration and 

impact assessments for all EU legislation brought forward.  This falls under those auspices 

but the consultation that it has been possible to have post the publication of the Directive, as I 

suggested earlier, has been fruitful and I hope will enable us to make sure that this is the most 

effective Directive possible. 

Q402  Lord Howie of Troon: Yes, but with your experience in government over some years 

and the experience of your officials you will realise that consultation on a draft which is 

already there is quite different from consultation before the draft is written.  I think that is 

really what has worried people, the fact that there were not preliminary consultations out of 

which a Directive might have come rather than being presented with a paper upon which you 

might comment.  This is fairly new to the government, by the way, I have noticed. 

Jacqui Smith: I may be wrong but my view is that the basic principle of what is trying to be 

achieved through this Directive, that is, to extend the principle of equal treatment with respect 

to access to goods and services to men and women equally, is not a very controversial 

argument.  Nevertheless, it does not exist in some other Member States and my view is that 

Europe as a whole will benefit from the development of this Directive.  That was not 

controversial.  What gets more difficult is the nitty-gritty and, frankly, I think it is quite 

difficult to focus on the nitty-gritty until you have got a draft Directive.  That is the stage that 

we are now in and we are happy with the engagement that we are having with the 

Commission and with other Member States on that. 
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Q403  Lord Howie of Troon: Are you happy with the relationship you have with the 

insurance industry? 

Jacqui Smith: Perhaps you need to ask the insurance industry.  We said from the very 

beginning when the insurance industry expressed concerns about the impact of Article 4 that 

we would question and consider in detail, and that of course is what my officials were doing 

in working groups right up to and continuing on from the point when I weighed in on 1 June 

at the Council. 

Q404  Chairman: It is right to negotiate but it is also a fact that this does require you, to 

resolve it in a way that in the end is satisfactory for us.  My last point is on timing.  We hope 

to complete our report and have it available in September.  We are not sure whether we will 

do that, but we hope to do it.  The Commission have said that they were hoping that it will go 

to the Council for approval in October.  I do not know whether that is a bit optimistic.  Can 

you give us any idea about the approximate timing? 

Jacqui Smith: We have had the Working Group this week and we have got the next Working 

Group on 20 July on the Article 4 issues in particular.  As you say, both the Commission and 

the Presidency would like us to get to the position where we can have a political agreement in 

the October Employment Council.  My view is that, given the need to iron out some of the 

issues around the exemptions and Article 4, perhaps we might be looking more at further 

progress being made by the December Employment Council, but that of course depends on 

whether or not we feel our creases have gone by the time we get to October or not. 

Chairman: Thank you very much indeed.  That is very helpful to us, and you will have the 

last word, apart from, of course, the Members of the Committee. 


